California State University, Monterey Bay Digital Commons @ CSUMB

Capstone Projects and Master's Theses

Capstone Projects and Master's Theses

Spring 2021

Multiscale Habitat Use and Effects of Resource Availability on California Spiny Lobster (Panulirus interruptus) Population

Taylor Eddy

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.csumb.edu/caps_thes_all

This Master's Thesis (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by the Capstone Projects and Master's Theses at Digital Commons @ CSUMB. It has been accepted for inclusion in Capstone Projects and Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ CSUMB. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@csumb.edu.

MULTISCALE HABITAT USE AND EFFECTS OF RESOURCE AVAILABILITY ON CALIFORNIA SPINY LOBSTER (*PANULIRUS INTERRUPTUS*) POPULATION SUCCESS

A Thesis

Presented to the

Faculty of

Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

California State University Monterey Bay

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

in

Marine Science

by

Taylor Eddy

Spring 2021

CALIFORNIA STATE UNIVERSITY MONTEREY BAY

The Undersigned Faculty Committee Approves the

Thesis of Taylor Eddy:

MULTISCALE HABITAT USE AND EFFECTS OF RESOURCE AVAILABILITY ON CALIFORNIA SPINY LOBSTER (PANULIRUS INTERRUPTUS) POPULATION SUCCESS

Josth Mell

Jonathan Geller, Chair Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Corey Garza Corey Garza California State University Monterey Bay

Scott Hamilton Moss Landing Marine Laboratories

Steven Y. Litvin Monterey Bay Research Institution, Moss Landing, CA

PelS

Daniel Shapiro, Interim Dean Associate VP for Academic Programs and Dean of Undergraduate and Graduate Studies

May 26, 2021

Approval Date

Copyright © 2021

by

Taylor Eddy

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Multiscale Habitat Use and Effects of Resource Availability on California Spiny Lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) population success

by

Taylor Eddy Masters of Science in Marine Science California State University Monterey Bay, 2021

Habitat use can affect ecological and biological processes, such as resource use, survival, and reproduction. For many species, habitat use can vary with season as their energetic needs change, for example increasing foraging area in the energetically costly reproductive season. In this study, I sought to understand the seasonal and temporal scales of spiny lobster (Panulirus interruptus) habitat use in a southern California ecosystem by integrating habitat surveys using GIS (Global information system), lobster demographic surveys, and diet analysis using stable isotopes. I focused on the California spiny lobster (Panulirus interruptus) because the species uses a variety of habitats at different seasonal and spatial scale and is economically and ecologically important. My two study sites on Santa Catalina Island, California, Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, were characterized by rocky substrate and high algal cover, but exhibited differences in the cover of mussels. Results indicated that Bird Rock had a higher density of lobsters than Big Fisherman Cove and intertidal habitat recorded higher density of individuals than subtidal habitat at both sites during nocturnal high tides. At Bird Rock, the proportion of females was 25% higher, and their reproductive condition was 43% greater than that at Big Fisherman Cove. I detected a distinct seasonal change in the diet of spiny lobsters, such that a higher diversity of prev resources was consumed in the summer, when nighttime high tides permit movement and foraging from the subtidal to the intertidal, compared to the winter, when high tides rarely overlap with nocturnal foraging behavior and winter storms can make it inaccessible. Stable isotope results indicated that lobsters at Bird Rock foraged on the mussel beds that are present at the site, while no mussel consumption was detected at Big Fisherman Cove. Seasonal foraging in the intertidal habitat acts as a diet subsidy for the spiny lobsters during the reproductive season, a time of high energetic cost. Observed differences in the reproductive condition of the lobster population are likely due to the presence of the mussel bed at Bird Rock. Understanding fine scale spatial and seasonal habitat needs of target species can help create better protected areas, not only for the spiny lobster, but other critically important species.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vi
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
CHAPTER	
Introduction	1
Experimental design and methodology	8
Study site	8
Study species	8
Sampling Design	9
Habitat characterization	10
Lobster population metrics	11
Isotopic sampling	
Stable Isotope Analysis	
Data analysis	13
Habitat characterization	13
Lobster population metrics	14
Stable isotope analysis	
Results	17
Habitat characterization	17
Lobster population metrics	17
Stable isotope analysis	19
Discussion	21
Future Research	
Conclusions	
REFERENCES	
Appendix I. Tables	40
Appendix II. Figures	44

LIST OF TABLES

	PAGE
Table 1. PERMANOVA of 2017-2019 benthic habitat comparison of Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove	40
Table 2. Two-way ANOVA of 2013 lobster density. Zone tested the Intertidal vs. the Subtidal, and Location tested Big Fisherman Cove vs. Bird Rock with lobster density as the response variable	40
Table 3. Two-way ANOVA of 2019 lobster density. Zone tested the Intertidal vs. the Subtidal, and Location tested Big Fisherman Cove vs. Bird Rock with lobster density as the response variable.	40
Table 4. Community metrics described in Layman et al 2007 to compare the isotopic community at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. The ranges in the parentheses represent the 95% confidence interval calculated in SIBER. Nitrogen range (NR), carbon range (CR), total area (TA) and mean distance to centroid (CD) give an idea of the community structure, and mean nearest neighbor distance (MNND) and standard deviation of nearest neighbor distance (SDNND) reflect the relative position of species to each other within the niche space.	41
Table 5. Lobster isotopic niche space results from SIBER analysis assessing: A. seasonal differences in lobster niche size at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, and B. the annual variation in lobster isotopic niche size at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove.	41
Table 6. Percent of prey contribution to the lobster diet as determined by MixSiar model for lobsters collected in the summer at A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove.	42
Table 7. Percent of prey contribution to the lobster diet as determined by MixSiar model for lobsters collected in the winter at A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove.	43

LIST OF FIGURES

PAGE

Figure	1. Study sites on Catalina Island, indicated in green on the inlayed map. The three transect locations are indicated in red (Big Fisherman's Cove) and blue (Bird Rock). The dotted red line represents the boundary of the Blue Cavern State Marine Conservation Area, where west of the line is protected, and east is unprotected.	44
Figure 2	2. A. Example flight path (in green) for one 20m2 transect on Bird Rock. Each pass extends the length of the transect, and each pass is approximately 0.5m lower in the intertidal than the previous pass. B. Drone flight path from the habitat anal	45
Figure 3	3. Bird rock photomosaic from 85 drone images after structure from motion (SFM) rendering in Pix4d.	46
Figure 4	4. Non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis of intertidal habitat cover at Bird Rock (Red) Big Fisherman Cove (Blue). B. Average intertidal benthic cover from 2017-2019 of Big Fisherman Cove (White) and Bird Rock (Gray). Error bars are ± 1 standard error.	47
Figure 3	5. Mean lobster density by Zone (Intertidal and Subtidal) and Location (Big Fisherman Cove) in A) 2013 and B) 2019. Error bars are ± 1 standard error	48
Figure (6. Lobster demographic surveys 2013. A) Proportional comparison of sex between Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. B) Proportional comparison of reproductive condition (presence or absence of eggs on females) between Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove.	49
Figure 7	7. Lobster demographic surveys 2019. A) Proportional comparison of sex between Big Fiserhman Cove and Bird Rock. B) Proportional comparison of reproductive condition (presence or absence of eggs on females) between Big Fisherman Cove and Bird Rock.	50
Figure 8	8. Community δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N bi-plot of A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove. Each point represents the mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, with error bars that represent the standard deviation.	51
Figure	9. Community δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N with the individual lobsters bi-plot by season for Bird Rock: A. summer and C. winter, and Big Fisherman Cove: B. summer and D. winter. The red circles represent female lobsters, the blue triangles represent male lobsters, and the gray arrow represents the trophic discrimination factor adjustment of -0.8‰ for carbon and -3.3‰ for Nitrogen). The prey are represented by green circles for intertidal species, and purple circles for subtidal species. Error bars represent the standard deviation	52
Figure 1	10. Total area (TA) of the convex hull – a measure of community niche space of the putative prey species for lobsters at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove	

	where the point represents their mode, and shaded boxes represent the 50%, 75%, and 95% credible intervals from dark to light grey	53
Figure	11. Standard ellipse area – an estimation of dietary niche – of lobsters at Bird Rock (BR) and Big Fisherman Cove (FC) by A) season and B) year where the point represents their mode, and shaded boxes represent the 50%, 75%, and 95% credible intervals from dark to light grey.	54
Figure	12. δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N bi-plot of lobsters at Bird Rock (circles) and Big Fisherman Cove (triangles) during summer (black) and winter (red).	55
Figure	13. Diet estimates for the lobsters collected in the summer using MixSIAR Bayesian mixing models for Bird Rock A. Males and B. Females and Big Fisherman Cove C. Males and D. Females. The intertidal prey are: crabs - <i>P.</i> <i>crassipes</i> (red), mussles - <i>Mytilus sp.</i> (green), limpets - <i>Lottia sp.</i> (yellow); and subtidal prey are: snails – <i>M. undosa</i> (blue), and urchins – <i>C. coronatus</i> (purple)	56
Figure	14. Diet estimates for the lobsters collected in the winter using MixSIAR Bayesian mixing models for Bird Rock: A. Males and B. Females, and Big Fisherman Cove: C. Males and D. Females. The subtidal prey are represented as: snails $-M$. undosa (red), and urchins $-C$. coronatus (blue)	57

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This publication was made possible by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Office of Education Educational Partnership Program award (NA16SEC4810009). Its contents are solely the responsibility of the award recipient and do not necessarily represent the official view of the U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.

Thank you to Dr. Corey Garza for accepting me into the lab and providing countless opportunities that have helped me grow in my scientific career. To the rest of my committee: Jon Geller, Scott Hamilton, and Steve Litvin, thank you for the invaluable feedback and support throughout this research process. Thanks to NOAA Center for Coastal and Marine Ecosystems for making this work possible, USC Wrigley Institute for Environmental Studies for accommodating us during field seasons, and CSU Council on Ocean Affairs, Science and Technology for supporting undergraduate researchers to help with field work. Thank you to Dr. Laura Good and Dr. Terra Eggink for all your support through the years. This truly would not have been possible without the countless research assistance from so many people. I am so grateful for your assistance, Riley Young, Rose Schirmer, Mina Sattari, Charnelle Wickliff, Dan Gossard, Jason Gronich, and everyone who helped in the field and lab. And finally, thank you to my incredible family and friends for their unwavering love, support, and encouragement.

INTRODUCTION

Species habitat use can affect many ecological and biological processes such as resource use, growth, survival, and reproduction. Some marsh birds have shown habitat preference when selecting nesting locations in western New York (Lor & Malecki 2018). For piping plover (*Charadritus melodus*), reproductive success is dependent on the available habitat (Prindiville Gaines & Ryan 1988). For some species, habitat use can change because of changes in environmental conditions, to meet their energetic needs, or prey and other resource availability. Perry et al. (2019) reported that adult Antarctic krill exhibit seasonal cross shore migrations from shelf to open ocean habitats, and the inverse is true of the juveniles. This habitat partitioning decreases intraspecific competition in foraging and may also be driven by prey size ranges. Seasonal migrations frequently align with the reproductive season, a time of increased energetic needs (Prindiville, Gaines and Ryan 1988, Donovan et al. 1995, Norris et al. 2004). One well known example of this is the salmon migration to freshwater rivers to spawn, with juveniles returning to the open ocean (Williams 2006). Changes in habitat use can also occur on a smaller scale, such as observed in the sea star, *Pisaster ochraceus*. This species moves during the nocturnal high tides from the lower intertidal to the upper intertidal to forage on mussel beds – a prey resource otherwise inaccessible to the sea star (Garza & Robles 2010).

The utilization of resources from outside of a species' primary habitat is called a spatial subsidy. Resources from one habitat (e.g., prey, detritus, and nutrients) being used in a second habitat can lead to increases in population productivity in the receiving habitat (Polis et al. 1997). Spatial subsidies can be achieved through many vectors.

Nutrients can be carried in the movements of water masses through processes like upwelling, currents, and tidal movement (Polis & Hurd 1996, Polis et al. 1997). Upwelling in coastal ecosystems leads to increases in productivity throughout the food web (Croll et al. 2005). Kelp wrack transported via ocean currents are an important subsidy for near-shore terrestrial ecosystems (Dugan et al. 2003, Orr et al. 2005). Alternatively, predator and prey migrations can increase the capacity of predators in their primary habitat through prey subsidies. When salmon migrate to freshwater streams to spawn, bears congregate at the stream to forage on them. The bears then distribute the nutrients received from the salmon throughout the terrestrial ecosystem by dropping the carcass in nearby forests (Reimchen 2000) and through excretion (Hilderbrand et al. 1999). For those salmon die after spawning, their carcasses subsidize the riparian system which leads to an increase in the resident salmonoid growth rates (Wipfli et al. 2003).

Anthropogenic impacts can affect the connectivity between habitat types (McCauley et al. 2012) which in turn can have negative impacts on species populations, and climate change can intensify the effects of anthropogenic habitat loss (Travis 2003). When salmon spawning grounds are limited due to anthropogenic impacts such as mining discharge and addition of diversion dams, and results in a decrease in population abundance and shift to homogeny in the genetic structure (Williams 2006). Even in the more remote areas of the world, species are affected by anthropogenic impacts. Antarctic krill are in danger because the identified hotspot of their activity in the southern Scotia Arc is also used by humans for fishing and, further, the distribution and abundance of this species is changing in response to long-term climatic changes (Perry et al. 2019). In contrast, management practices can help to mitigate these negative impacts. Practices such as protecting habitat through limiting access and protecting critical terrestrial and marine areas, banning oil drilling, invasive species removal, and fishing regulations can benefit many species.

One management strategy utilized in marine ecosystems to protect critical habitat includes creating marine protected areas (MPAs). MPAs are often designed to help conserve populations of exploited species – species targeted in commercial fisheries – leading to increases in population abundance, size structure, and biomass (Lester et al. 2009). Population recovery, especially of predators inside reserves, can lead to a shift in the trophic dynamics of the ecosystem within the MPA (Shears & Babcock 2003, Behrens & Lafferty 2004, Lafferty 2004, Guidetti 2006, Guest et al. 2009, Babcock et al. 2010). A number of considerations go into the development of MPAs, including factors like the size, placement, and enforcement effort that affects the efficacy (Mills et al. 2010, Arias et al. 2016). Mismatches between MPAs, and the actual habitat use of the species can lead to unsuccessful protected areas (Kelly & MacDiarmid 2003, Mills et al. 2010). Understanding the habitats essential to the target species life history fine-scale traits such as habitat preference or home range can better inform management practices and lead to more efficient MPAs (Palumbi 2004, Parnell et al. 2006, Blamey & Branch 2009, Roberts et al. 2011).

The California spiny lobster, *Panulirus interruptus*, is an example of a species that uses a variety of habitats at different seasonal and spatial scales (Kay et al. 2012a,b). They are often found in the subtidal of kelp forests, and their population abundance and mean size is tightly coupled with fine-scale habitat features, such as the density and diversity of understory kelp (Mai & Hovel 2007). Historically, their diet mostly consists

of mollusks, crustaceans, and echinoderms; with mollusks being the dominant food resource, followed by crabs and sea urchins (Winget 1968). When their abundance is high, spiny lobsters act as keystone predators, helping to maintain high kelp forest diversity by preying on sea urchins (Tegner 2000, Chávez-Hidalgo & Chávez 2016). During their summer reproductive season, in some locations, lobsters make a seasonal foraging shift and occupy intertidal habitats on nights with more extreme nocturnal high tides, and spend daytime hours sheltered in subtidal crevices (Robles 1987). At night, they thus have access to energetically dense prey resources, such as mussel beds (*Mytilus spp.*) (Robles 1987, Robles & Robb 1993, Robles et al. 2001). Other species of lobster, such as the American lobster (*Homarus americanus*) in New England (Jones and Shulman 2008) have also been shown to visit habitats that subsidize their diets during times of high energetic need.

In the intertidal, lobster foraging on mussels decreases spatial competition for hard substrate, allowing for higher algal density (Robles & Robb 1993, Robles 1997). The different spatial scales characterizing prey patches in the intertidal result in differences in lobster habitat use during foraging. For example, mussels are best characterized as habitat on a sub-meter scale, as they occur in small, patchy beds throughout the intertidal, while other prey species such as crabs and limpets may be best characterized at larger spatial scales (>10 meters) as they are found widely through the entire area (Windell 2015). When the mussel beds are present, spiny lobsters will focus foraging efforts on these small but dense mussel beds to fuel their high energetic needs of reproduction (Robles 1987), and they will widen their foraging range to feed on other prey items when the mussels are not present.

California spiny lobster populations are susceptible to population-level changes due to commercial fishing pressure through decreases in mean size, abundance, biomass, and fecundity of lobsters in fished areas (Iacchei et al. 2005). Further, when the size of lobsters decrease, so does their functional role in rocky reef ecosystems (Dayton et al. 1998). The lobster fishery began in 1871, and in 1887 the average carapace length (CL) of the lobster was about 150 mm and 260 traps would yield almost 105 kg of lobster, but by 1975 the mean CL decreased to around 90 mm and 19,000 traps were needed to match the catch of 260 traps in 1887 (Dayton et al. 1998). Due to their ecological importance, as well as being the third highest grossing fishery in California (Frimodig & Buck 2017), there is a need for management action to maintain a sustainable abundance and individual size. MPAs have been shown to be successful for lobster populations in southern California. An MPA that covered 35% of lobster fishing area resulted in a 225% increase in total catch outside of the MPA (Lenihan et al. 2021). In the northern Channel Islands, MPAs have been shown to increase the abundance of lobsters within MPAs and induce spillover, and the increase in abundance is also influenced by fine-scale habitat features (Kay et al. 2012). The MPAs that protect lobsters also affect the larger ecosystem. Lobster fishing has also shown to indirectly increase epidemics in sea urchins through the loss of sea urchin population control by lobster foraging (Lafferty 2004). Outside of an MPA, sea urchin density increased dramatically, and disease was found to be four times greater than within the protected site which had a significantly higher abundance of lobsters (Lafferty 2004). Further, rocky reefs inside reserves have shown to protect predators that feed on sea urchins, and this dynamic helps to support and sustain kelp

forests; and outside of protected areas, urchin populations are relieved of predation pressure which can lead to an urchin barren (Behrens & Lafferty 2004)

In contrast, previous studies at Catalina Island have observed that lobster populations outside of a long standing MPA exhibited higher abundances, larger sizes, and more fecund female lobsters than populations inside of the MPA, due to the presence of a sustained mussel bed at the site outside of the MPA (Windell 2015). Outside the MPA, the lobsters were preferentially feeding on *Mytilus*, but within the MPA, lobsters prey on other intertidal invertebrates due to the lack of a sustained mussel population (McCormick 2016). This study was the first to quantify the spiny lobster energetic dependence on the intertidal during their reproductive season, but it occurred only during a single summer season. Therefore, it is still unknown how seasonal and annual variability affects lobster abundance and reproductive success, as well as the propensity with which subtidal resources are consumed by lobsters at these locations. The goals of this project are to: 1) Assess the scale of lobster habitat use during foraging between sites that differ in intertidal resource availability; 2) Assess the differences in: abundance, size, sex, and reproductive condition, between the lobsters inhabiting subtidal and intertidal habitat; and 3) Compare the annual and seasonal diets, and trophic dynamics between sites with different intertidal resource availability on Catalina Island.

Understanding the diet and resources critical for spiny lobster success will help to inform future MPA designations for lobsters, but also provide another metric for assessing the success of existing MPAs for other species. In this study, I used modern geospatial techniques to assess the intertidal habitat inside and outside of a marine reserve to then compare with the diet of at each site to assess the habitat use in terms of resource availability. One way to study lobster diet preference is using Stable Isotope Analysis (SIA). SIA is a tool used by ecologists to trace the flow of elements, typically carbon and nitrogen, in a system using natural tracers - isotopes (Fry 2006). The ratio of heavy to light nitrogen isotopes ($^{15}N/^{14}N$ denoted $\delta^{15}N$) increases with increasing trophic level and can thus be a powerful indicator of trophic position. Carbon isotope ratios ($^{13}C/^{12}C$ denoted $\delta^{13}C$) change little with trophic level, but do vary among primary producers (i.e., kelp vs. phytoplankton) depending on photosynthetic pathways, and can help determine the source of dietary carbon (Peterson & Fry 1987, Post 2002, Fry 2006). The natural variation in these isotope ratios can be measured and traced within a community to help understand the structure of the food web and size of the trophic niche – how organisms or populations utilize resources. This method has been employed previously for other species that inhabit southern California rocky reefs (Hamilton et al. 2011).

SIA can also be used to describe the isotopic niche of a species by quantifying dietary diversity among individuals in a population (Newsome et al. 2007). I compared the niche composition metrics (Layman et al. 2007) for lobster prey to the isotopic niche of lobsters over space and time (Jackson et al. 2011). Further, SIA can be used to estimate the relative prey contribution to the diet of spiny lobsters to determine if there is a preferred prey resource by using isotopic mixing models. Given the isotopic composition of the predator and the prey, mixing models can estimate the relative contribution of each prey to the diet of the predator (Phillips 2012). Through these methods, I sought to understand the importance of the intertidal habitat in the life history of spiny lobsters on Catalina Island.

EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN AND METHODOLOGY

Study site

The study area was located on Santa Catalina Island, located 20 nautical miles offshore of Los Angeles, California, at Big Fisherman Cove (33°26'37" N, 118°29'05" W) and Bird Rock (33°27'03" N, 118°29'15" W; Fig. 1). At each site, this study was conducted on intertidal benches that had previously been used to examine the ecology of lobsters on Catalina Island (Robles 1987, Robles and Robb 1993, Robles et al. 2001). Big Fisherman Cove is located at the USC Wrigley Institute for Environmental Studies (WIES) and has been part of the USC Wrigley marine reserve since 1988. Bird Rock is a rocky islet located several hundred meters offshore, across a deep (> 40 m depth) channel, is more exposed to swell and wave action, and historically has been the location of intense spearfishing and lobster fishing on Catalina Island. The two sites have the distinction of having data from before and after the establishment of the Wrigley marine reserve. The intertidal benches at both sites are characterized by a rocky substrate with a sea grass bed in the lower intertidal zone, red turf algae and coralline algae in the midintertidal, and fucoid algae in the upper intertidal. Big Fisherman Cove has lower mussel recruitment than Bird Rock and no permanent mussel cover (Robles et al. 2001). In contrast, Bird Rock historically has had a persistent mussel bed; however, in recent years the number of mussels has been declining at the site (C. Robles pers. comm.).

Study species

The spiny lobster range extends from Point Conception, California to Baja California, Mexico and are found in the intertidal zone to depths as great as 240 feet (Duffy 1973). They occupy the shallow depths and even use the intertidal habitat during the summer, reproductive season (Robles 1987). During this time, females can carry between 120,000 and 680,000 eggs, with clutch size positively associated with the size of the lobster (CA DFG 2001). The lobsters at this site have been shown to be nocturnal foragers, they utilize the nighttime high tide to access the intertidal zone to forage on mussel beds (Robles & Robb 1993).

Although the channel separating the two sites in this study is within the depth limits of spiny lobsters, the adult lobster populations in each site are considered independent because while genetic analysis indicate they are the same population (Garza, pers. com. 2018) likely due to larval dispersal, once settled, adult spiny lobsters display high site fidelity and small foraging ranges (Withy-Allen & Hovel 2013), thus it is unlikely they migrate across the channel separating the sites.

Sampling Design

Sample collections and intertidal characterizations were conducted during the summers of 2017 – 2019 and the winter of 2019. At each site I used six 20 x 1 meter (20m²) band transects: three located on the intertidal bench at approximately 1.2 m above mean lower-low water (MLLW) paired with three located in the subtidal at a depth of approximately 6m (Fig. 1). The intertidal transect was used for intertidal habitat characterization, and both the intertidal and subtidal transects were used for lobster survey and collection dives. I used previously collected data from 2013 to understand the annual variability in foraging, and to compare dates before and after a warming event ("The Blob" and El Niño 2014).

HABITAT CHARACTERIZATION

To describe the species and habitat composition of the rocky intertidal and the abundance of prey resources, I used digital images captured by handheld digital cameras and drones. In the summers of 2017 and 2018, the photographic habitat surveys were conducted using methods outlined in Robles et al. (2009, 2010) at low tide along each $20m^2$ intertidal transect. Photos were taken along the transect at a height of approximately 2 meters above the ground using a Nikon Coolpix B500 16-megapixel camera. Each photo covers a 1 m² quadrat, defined by cones in the four corners which serve as control points. Coordinates of each cone (X, Y, and Z) were measured using a Total Station laser surveyor (TOPCON©), referencing each photograph to a tidal and global (WGS84 10S) datum that allows for the recreation of each photomosaic in ArcGIS.

Beginning in 2019, drones were used to collect photo quadrat data. A DJI Mavic 2 Pro with a 20-megapixel camera was used for habitat surveys. The drone was equipped with an internal GPS unit. I conducted low altitude flights (2.5 m above the ground) – the improved camera resolution allowed for a moderate increase in camera height. The increase in camera height, compared to hand-held imagery described above, captures a larger area per image, thereby reducing the time needed to sample each transect to an average of 8 minutes per transect.

Before flying, I laid out a transect to mark the center of my study area. I used an on-screen grid overlay in the mobile app, DJI Go to aid in drone flying. The transect was visible on screen and the grid acted as a guide to maintain a proper course. Additionally, the grid was used to capture images with 50% overlap between them to ensure high quality photomosaics. The pilot manually flew the drone over the study area in three parallel lines maintaining a consistent altitude of three meters and keeping in line with the transect. The first line was highest in the intertidal zone, and each subsequent line was approximately 0.5 m lower in the intertidal to maintain proper image overlap (Fig. 2). A picture was taken approximately every 0.5 m, or when no less than 50% of the image overlapped with the previous image. This resulted in approximately 85 images/transect captured at each of my sites (Fig. 3). With this survey approach, I achieved a Ground Sampling Distance (GSD) of 0.07 cm resulting in a pixel size of 0.0049 cm².

Survey images from the 2017-2018 transects were mosaiced using the georeferencing tool in ArcGIS 10.1. Drone images from the 2019 surveys were mosaiced in Pix4D software using Structure from Motion (SFM) approaches. Structure from Motion (SFM) is a photogrammetry approach that uses multiple images collected from a moving camera to track the motion of stationary objects through the images. The amount the object moves from image to image depends on their depth. From this information, the software can determine the object's location in space and the depth of the object. Using many of these objects within the survey area, the software creates an orthomosaic (Fig. 3) and 3D point cloud of the area. The final products can be analyzed in both 2 and 3 dimensions in geospatial software such as ArcGIS to extract data on spatial variation in habitat distribution and prey resource abundance from the final images.

LOBSTER POPULATION METRICS

To determine lobster abundance inside and outside the MPA as well as seasonal habitat preference, lobsters were surveyed in the summers of 2017 to 2019, and the winter of 2019. Lobsters are primarily nocturnal foragers (Robles et al. 2001), therefore, nighttime survey were conducted to obtain the best estimate of habitat foraging preferences. Dives were conducted to sample intertidal and subtidal transects during the nighttime high tide (>1.5m) using SCUBA. During observational dives, I recorded the density of lobsters observed along each 20 m² (20m x 1 m) transect. Lobsters were then collected within the same transects to measure a suite of population metrics. From each captured lobster I recorded the carapace length (cm), sex (male, female, immature) and reproductive stage. The reproductive stage of females was recorded as plastered (having spermatophores fixed to their sternum), eggs (having visible egg masses), or non-reproductive (neither spermatophores nor egg masses visible). These population metrics were compared to data collected previously in the summer of 2013, utilizing the same methods, to further assess annual variability within the lobster population.

ISOTOPIC SAMPLING

I sampled the intertidal sites for invertebrate prey species (mussels, crabs, barnacles, and limpets) and primary producers (turf and coralline algae) and water samples at a depth of three meters. In the subtidal, I also collected invertebrate prey items (e.g., sea urchin *Centrostephanus coronatus*, wavy top turban snail *Megastraea undosa*). I collected a minimum of ten samples of each invertebrate prey species and algae for isotope studies when possible. For the lobster isotopic samples, a second walking leg was collected from each lobster captured during the SCUBA surveys. Muscle from urchins around the Aristotle's lantern, from the claws of crabs, the muscular foot from the limpet, and the depressor muscle from barnacles were dissected and rinsed with deionized water.

STABLE ISOTOPE ANALYSIS

Lobster and prey tissue samples were dried at 60°C for 60 hours, and finely ground using a SPEX Sampleprep mixer mill. Prior to stable isotope analysis, coralline algae samples were acidified with HCl to remove inorganic carbon. Samples from Big Fisherman Cove in January 2019 were analyzed using a PDZ Europa ANCA-GSL elemental analyzer interfaced to a PDZ Europa 20-20 isotope ratio mass spectrometer at University of California, Davis stable isotope facility. All other samples were analyzed using an ECS 4010 elemental combustion system (Costech Analytical Technologies, Valencia, CA, USA) interfaced to a Delta V Advantage isotope ratio mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Bremen, Germany) through a ConFlo IV system (Thermo Scientific) at the Idaho State University stable isotope facility. Samples that were lipid rich (>3.5 C:N) were corrected to account for the negative δ^{13} C bias introduced by lipids (DeNiro and Epstein 1977) by applying a linear lipid normalization (Post et al. 2007).

Data analysis

HABITAT CHARACTERIZATION

To analyze the percent cover of organisms on the orthomosaics created from my images, I used the Image Classification toolset in ArcGIS 10.6.1. This is an automated classification approach in ArcMap that uses the spectral reflectance of objects in an image to classify them into categories. Categories of habitat classification were selected based on benthic species that are important within the California spiny lobster life history (Robles & Robb 1993). I focused on mussels (*Mytilus spp.*), barnacles (*Tetraclita rubescens, Chthamalus spp.*), red turf algae, the fucoid *Silvetia spp.*, and foliose red

algae. I did not classify mussel and algal groups further as it would require genetic testing for species level identification. Multiple training samples were taken for each classification by selecting samples of pixels to create a spectral signature of the species or group. The training samples were tested using the Supervised Image Classification which uses the spectral signatures from the training samples to classify each pixel in the image. Once a high confidence in the classification was reached, the training samples were then used to classify the transect images collected at each site. I was then able to extract percent cover data from the classified image based on the number of pixels corresponding to each habitat classification relative to the total pixels in the image.

A non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) analysis was used to summarize differences between the transects and sites in species composition of the intertidal habitat, and a PERMANOVA was used to test whether the sites differed in composition, and if there is year to year variability within the sites. A total of n = 3 intertidal benches at Bird Rock, and n=3 intertidal benches at Big Fisherman Cove were sampled in 2017, 2018, and 2019. The data were square-root transformed to account for the right skew common in habitat cover data.

LOBSTER POPULATION METRICS

I used two-way ANOVA to determine if there are significant differences in the density or mean size of lobsters between sites (Fisherman's Cove/Bird Rock) and zones (intertidal/subtidal) (models: density = site + zone + (site * zone) + error, and mean size = site + zone + (site * zone) + error). Additionally, Chi-Squared tests were used to test for differences in the sex ratio (male vs female) and reproductive condition (presence vs absence of eggs on females) of lobsters.

STABLE ISOTOPE ANALYSIS

I assessed the annual and seasonal variation in dietary niches space of prev communities and lobsters at both Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove (Layman et al 2007) using SIBER (Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R, Jackson et al. 2011). The metrics of analysis include: 1) Nitrogen range (NR): the range of δ^{15} N - an indicator of trophic variability; 2) Carbon range (CR): the range of δ^{13} C - an indicator of diversity at the base of the food web; 3) Total area (TA): the measure of the trophic extent of the food web; 4) Nearest neighbor distance (NND): the mean distance of each species to the δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N centroid as a measure of diversity in the food web; and 5) Standard deviation of nearest neighbor distance (SDNND): the standard deviation of the NND - a measure of the distribution of trophic niches within the community. In this study I used these metrics to compare the prey communities at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. To assess the lobster niche as a species, I used the same package to create δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N biplots and measure the standard ellipse area (SEA) which gives an estimate of isotopic niche area. This estimation is used for individual species within a community because it is less sensitive to sample size, and is an ideal tool for comparing isotopic niche between groups with dissimilar sample sizes (Jackson et al. 2011). In this study, I used SEA to estimate the niche space of lobsters within the community and assessed the annual and seasonal variation in SEA between Big Fisherman Cove and Bird Rock.

Diet preferences and the proportion of the diet composed by different prey sources were assessed using MixSIAR (Stock et al. 2018), a Bayesian mixing model for biological tracers (i.e., stable isotopes). Mixing models assume that the isotopic composition of the predator reflects that of the prey. By combining the lobster isotope data with potential prey isotope data and estimates of trophic fractionation rates, I estimated the diet composition of lobsters at each site (Phillips 2012). I applied Bayesian mixing models with uninformed priors to analyze the stable isotopes from the muscle samples of the lobster and potential prey to estimate the diet composition of the lobster in each location. I analyzed the lobsters and prey from each location, Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, independently. For each location, I performed a diet analysis of the summer and winter lobster and prey. For the summer analysis, I included subtidal and intertidal prey: mussels, crabs, limpets, snails, and urchins. For winter, I only included subtidal prey, snails and urchins, as the intertidal is inaccessible during the winter months (Robles et al. 1990, Windell 2015). To account for trophic fractionation, I assumed a carbon trophic discrimination factor of $0.8\% \pm 0.1$ and a nitrogen trophic discrimination factor of $3.3\% \pm 0.15$ based on values derived from rock lobster leg muscle (Suring & Wing 2009).

While MixSIAR is a powerful tool for diet assessment, there are many limitations in using mixing models. MixSIAR assumes that all prey species are included in the model. While I am confident that the major contributors to adult spiny lobster diet were captured (Barkai et al. 1996, Alka et al. 2016), more in-depth diet studies would be needed to determine if all potential resources were captured. Additionally, the closer the prey isotope values are to one another, the less power the model has in determining the proportional contributions of the prey to the consumer (Layman et al. 2012). In my study, there is high overlap in prey species, particularly the mussel and barnacle species. To address this concern, I omitted barnacle species from the analysis because a gut content analysis of the lobsters at my site showed little evidence of barnacle foraging among the spiny lobsters (Garza, personal comm. 2017).

RESULTS

HABITAT CHARACTERIZATION

The comparison of intertidal habitat composition between Big Fisherman Cove and Bird Rock shows distinctly different benthic assemblages (PERMANOVA, $F_{1,13}$ =12.28, Table 1, Fig. 4a) and no significant difference at each site between the years (PERMANOVA, $F_{2,13}$ =1.86, Table 1). The primary benthic habitat cover at Big Fisherman Cove was distributed among *Silvetia compressa*, red foliose algae, turf, and barnacles (Fig. 4b). At Bird Rock, the primary benthic habitat had 30% more turf algae than at Big Fisherman Cove. There was negligible mussel cover at Big Fisherman Cove (>0.5%) while mussels comprised 2% of the total habitat at Bird Rock. The mussel bed is only found on the western most transect, BRA, which had an average cover of 5% between 2017 and 2019.

LOBSTER POPULATION METRICS

In 2013 survey dives, 172 lobsters were observed – 131 at Bird Rock and 41 at Big Fisherman Cove. In 2013, there was a higher density of lobsters found in the intertidal compared to the subtidal during the nocturnal high tides ($F_{1,32} = 8.07$, p = 0.008, Fig. 7a, Table 2) and of the lobsters surveyed, there was a higher density at Bird Rock than Big Fisherman Cove ($F_{1,32} = 21.79$, p < 0.001, Fig. 5a, Table 2). In the 2018 and 2019 summer surveys, I observed 199 lobsters –137 at Bird Rock, and 62 at Big Fisherman Cove. The same patterns were observed in 2017: There was higher lobster density in the intertidal than subtidal during the nocturnal high tides ($F_{1,20}$ = 11.81, p = 0.003, Fig. 5b, Table 3) and a higher density at Bird Rock than Big Fisherman Cove ($F_{1,20}$ = 13.958, p = 0.001, Fig. 8b, Table 3). In both the 2013 and 2018-19 surveys, the interaction between zone and location is non-significant, indicating that the differences in density between zones was consistent between locations, such that lobsters have higher densities in the intertidal compared to subtidal at both locations during the nocturnal high tide.

A total of 113 lobsters were collected in the 2013 collection dives – 62 at Bird Rock and 51 at Big Fisherman Cove and 58% of the total were female. In the 2017-2019 surveys, a total of 148 lobsters were collected – 84 at Bird Rock and 34 at Big Fisherman Cove in the summer, and 56% were female. In the winter, 23 lobsters were sampled at Bird Rock and 7 at Big Fisherman Cove, and 55% of the total were female. In the 2013 lobster surveys, the sex-ratio was more skewed towards females at Bird Rock compared to Big Fisherman Cove (Chi-squared test, $X^2 = 17.36$, p < 0.001; Fig 6a). Of the lobsters collected at Bird Rock during the nocturnal high tide, 77% were female, while at Big Fisherman Cove, 44% of lobsters collected were female. Lobster reproductive condition was almost 20% greater at Bird Rock compared to Big Fisherman Cove (Fisher's exact test, $X^2 = 9.93$, p = 0.002; Fig 6b). Of the collected female lobsters at Bird Rock 97% were carrying eggs, while at Big Fisherman Cove 78% of female lobsters were carrying eggs in 2013.

In the 2017-2019 lobster surveys, I observed the same pattern with sex ratios skewed more towards females and higher reproductive condition in the intertidal at Bird Rock compared to Big Fisherman Cove. The proportion of female to male lobsters was 25% greater at Bird Rock relative to Big Fisherman Cove during the nocturnal high tides $(X^2=6.069, p < 0.001, Fig. 7a)$. At Bird Rock, 63% of the lobsters collected were female, compared to 38% at Big Fisherman Cove. Lobster reproductive condition was 38% greater at Bird Rock compared to Big Fisherman Cove $(X^2=23.94, p < 0.0001, Fig. 7b)$. At Bird Rock, 92% of the female lobsters were reproductive, compared to 54% at Big Fisherman Cove during 2017-2019.

STABLE ISOTOPE ANALYSIS

I found the community range of δ^{13} C at Bird rock to be similar to that of Big Fisherman Cove (Bird Rock δ^{13} C = -20.84‰ to -7.96‰, Fisherman Cove δ^{13} C = -22.81‰ to -9.78‰, Fig. 8a). The community at Bird Rock was more nitrogen enriched than those collected from Big Fisherman Cove (Bird Rock δ^{15} N = 8.67‰ – 24.50‰, Fisherman Cove δ^{15} N = 3.94‰ – 16.74‰, Fig. 8b. At both sites, the lobsters feed at the same trophic level, with some slight variation between sites due to the nitrogen enrichment at Bird Rock (Fig. 9). The individual lobsters are more uniformly distributed through the niche space in the summer at Bird Rock than Big Fisherman Cove (Fig. 9). In the winter, fewer lobsters were sampled, but it appears there is more uniformity in the diet among individuals in the winter at both sites (Fig. 9).

I calculated the Layman metrics of the communities at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove without the lobster to understand the differences of the underlying prey communities at each site (Table 4). All prey (Big Fisherman Cove n= 215, Bird Rock n = 164) species collected were included in this calculation. The nitrogen range of the prey community is greater at Bird rock than at Big Fisherman Cove, but there is no difference in the carbon range. Thus, the total prey niche area (TA) is larger at Bird Rock (27.53‰²) than Big Fisherman Cove (22.01‰², Fig. 10). This prey niche area represents the potential maximum niche size of the lobsters at each site, so the lobsters at Bird Rock have the potential for a large niche area than the lobsters at Big Fisherman Cove, based on the prey niche distribution. The mean distance to the centroid, another measure of niche diversity of the sites, is higher at Bird Rock (3.63‰) than Big Fisherman Cove (3.1‰), but this is likely due to the enriched nitrogen values of crabs at Bird Rock. At Bird Rock, MNND and SDNND are higher than at Big Fisherman Cove, suggesting that the prey are more divergent in their trophic niche at Bird Rock, than Big Fisherman Cove, but the prey niche spaces at Big Fisherman Cove are more evenly distributed.

I found seasonal differences in the isotopic niche space of lobsters at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. The isotopic niche space of lobsters is larger in the summer at both Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove (Fig. 11a, Table 5a), while the niche space is similar between the sites in the winter. There is overlap of the summer and winter confidence interval at Big Fisherman Cove suggesting they are not significantly different, but this is likely due to the limited sample size of lobsters collected at Big Fisherman Cove in the winter. Much of the variability in niche space is in the range of δ^{15} N for individuals at Bird Rock, but in the δ^{13} C range for individuals at Big Fisherman Cove. In both cases, the vector of isotopic niche expansion is the same, and in the direction of decreasing in δ^{13} C and increasing in δ^{15} N (Fig. 12) from summer to winter. There is little annual variation in the summer isotopic niche space at both sites in the summer. In contrast to the broader isotopic niche of the prey community, the niche space of lobsters is smaller at Bird Rock across all years compared to that of lobsters at Big Fisherman Cove (Fig. 11b, Table 5b). Results of the mixing model suggest there are site differences in the diets of lobsters during the summer (Fig. 13). At both sites, subtidal resources dominated the diet, but at Bird Rock, lobster diets are subsidized with intertidal resources. Urchins make up 42% of the diet of male lobster and 45% of the diet of female lobster, while snails comprised 48% of the diet of males, and 42% of the diet of females at Bird Rock (Table 6). Mussels comprised more of the diet of female lobsters than male lobsters at Bird Rock, 7% and 4% respectively. Crabs and limpets contributed the least to both male and female diets, with less than 4% attributed to each. At Big Fisherman Cove, urchins were the largest contribution of both male and female lobster diets, comprising 96% of the diet. There is no difference in the male and female lobster diets at this site (Fig. 13c, d) and intertidal resources comprised less than 2% of the diet (Table 6).

Variability in the winter foraging patterns at Bird rock and Big Fisherman Cove is lower between sites than in the summer (Fig. 14). At Bird Rock, snails represented most of the diet of males and females, comprising 77% and 86% of the diets respectively. At Big Fisherman Cove, snails and urchins evenly contributed to female diets, and urchins comprised 63% of the diet of males (Table 7).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study show that the intertidal habitat are important for California spiny lobsters during their breeding season (May through August) on Santa Catalina Island, California. During this time, spiny lobsters widened their foraging range from the subtidal into the adjacent intertidal zone at night. This movement to the intertidal, and their associated foraging during these forays, subsidizes their subtidal diets during reproduction, a time of high energetic cost. This cross-system foraging subsidy is not unique to the California spiny lobster and has been exhibited in other lobster species such as the American lobster (*Homarus americanus*) in New England (Jones & Shulman 2008), and western rock lobster (*Panulirus cygnus*) in Australia (MacArthur et al. 2008). The American lobster is generally found in deep offshore waters, but migrates to shallower water in the early spring to late fall and they utilize the intertidal resources such as mussels and crabs to subsidize their diets (Jones & Shulman 2008). Similarly, the western rock lobster shelters in reefs during the day, but forages along the shallow reefs at night (MacArthur et al. 2008).

The community niche of the prey is similar between Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, as estimated by all Layman statistics, suggesting that the difference in the lobster SEA is not due to site differences in prey isotopic signatures, but rather relative availability and utilization of the prey across habitats at both sites. At Bird Rock, the mussels are larger, more abundant, and easier to access than the mussels at Fisherman's cove, where there is no true bed of mussels. Mussels are a high value prey item, with the caloric value of 0.55 ± 0.04 kcal/g wet weight, compared to sea urchins with a caloric value of 0.39 ± 0.04 kcal/g wet weight (Stewart & Konar 2012). This high energetic value is likely a significant factor driving the feeding preference for mussels across a range of lobster species (Robles 1987, Barkai et al. 1996, Haley et al. 2011, Alka et al. 2016). Diet switching to increase reproductive output or success is a common phenomenon exhibited across marine and terrestrial species. For some, prey availability and nutritional quality have direct effects on factors of reproduction like egg size and number of offspring, or the ability of the species to maintain physiological condition conducive to breeding (Reynolds et al. 2003, Hall et al. 2018, Xavier et al. 2018). The

success of reproduction can even be negatively influenced by the absence of a single amino acid (Koch et al. 2011). Therefore, the increased reproductive success of female lobster at Bird Rock, coupled with the increase in energetically rich mussels in their diet, suggests that the small bed of mussels on a 20 m² stretch of intertidal habitat is likely an integral part in their reproductive success.

In this study, at both Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, lobster populations were generalist predators that exhibited similar trophic niches. However, together the mixing model (Fig. 13, 14) and lobster niche metrics (Table 5) together suggest the range and distribution of individual diet specialization varied across sites and seasons. At Bird Rock in the summer, lobsters, particularly females, forage on mussels. However, their diet predominantly consisted of a mix of snails and urchins with relatively few individuals specializing on either prey. At Big Fisherman Cove, individuals have a gradient of foraging preference, with most individuals foraging predominately on sea urchins, with the remaining lobsters specialized on snails or consumed a mix of these two prey items (Fig. 9). In the winter, at both sites the reduction in niche size was driven by the lack of intertidal resources and the apparent reduction individual resource specialization, with most lobsters consuming a mix of urchins and snails, though those at Bird Rock exhibited a higher proportion of urchins in their diet (Fig. 14). Seasonal diet switching based on resource availability is seen in many other systems. From lake fish (Pool et al 2017) and carp (Coulter et al. 2019), to Neotropical frugivorous bats (Shipley and Twining 2020), species exhibit niche width expansion coinciding with seasonal changes in prey or habitat availability. Historically it is thought that an increase in prey diversity should lead to a dietary niche expansion of the consumer (Yoder et al. 2010),

but this isn't the case for all predators. The effect on niche size is dependent on the per capita effect the predator has on the prey population (Jones & Post 2016). When predator foraging has a strong ecological effect on the prey population, resource depletion limits the dietary breadth of the species (Jones & Post 2016). In the present study, we see a larger niche space at Big Fisherman Cove than at Bird Rock in the summer, but the mixing model suggest more diverse prey utilization at Bird Rock. The findings in Jones & Post (2016) suggest that this may be due to the difference in the per capita effect due to the preference of mussels at Bird Rock.

As opportunistic predators, spiny lobsters will switch to foraging on lower value prey when high value prey items are not present (Barkai et al. 1996, Briones-Fourzán et al. 2019). For the Rock lobster, *Jasus lallandi*, after a preferred food resource has been depleted, the population diet shifts to smaller, low-energy food resources to maintain their population densities (Haley et al. 2011). I saw effects of the consumption of lower value prey at Big Fisherman Cove in the decreased density, size, and proportion of reproductive females of when compared to Bird Rock. Since the quality of prey available is lower in the intertidal at Big Fisherman Cove, the value of prey subsidy and therefore the effect of increasing the capacity for a larger abundance of lobsters is decreased, with effects on lobster reproductive success (Polis et al. 1997). The western rock lobster, *Panulirus cygnus*, experiences a higher survival rate when more mussels are incorporated in their diet, and individuals fed a diet containing mussels either solely or as a supplement, had a faster growth rate than those without mussels in their diet (Johnston et al. 2007).

The mussel cover throughout southern California has been declining for decades (Smith et al. 2006), and recruitment is significantly lower than throughout the rest of the California and Oregon communities (Connolly et al. 2001, Broitman et al. 2008). In a 2013 habitat study using the same methods as this paper, the mussel bed at Bird Rock was calculated to cover 4.2% of the habitat (Windell 2015), compared to the 2% cover measured 5 years later in this study. In 2014, a warming event, nicknamed "The Blob" affected the entire North Pacific Ocean, causing large scale temperature increases in surface water through the region (Zaba & Rudnick 2016). The mussel beds were already in a state of decline throughout southern California, before the marine heat wave (Smith et al. 2006), and these temperature anomalies are not likely the sole cause of the decline in mussel cover as they have been shown to be resilient to climate change (Liu et al. 2014, Miller & Dowd 2019). Indirect effects of the increased surface temperature, like increase in predation rate (Contolini et al. 2020, Hull 2020), or limitations at the base of the food web (Delgadillo-Hinojosa et al. 2020) may have contributed to the decline of the mussel bed. Compared to the 2013 survey, I observed a lower reproductive condition of the females collected in Big Fisherman Cove and a decrease in the proportion of females at this site but increase in the proportion of females and reproductive condition at Bird Rock. Further monitoring is necessary to understand the relationship between mussel bed cover and the proportion of mussels in the diet of lobsters at Bird Rock. Some species have shown that the energy content and nutrients of mollusk species are important for reproductive success (Selman & Lindeman 2018). As the mussel beds on Santa Catalina Island decrease, and therefore the prey value of the subsidizing habitat declines, it is

likely that the capacity for a larger population abundance will also decline at Bird Rock, becoming more similar to the population at Big Fisherman Cove.

FUTURE RESEARCH

While the SIA data revealed important differences in the trophic ecology of lobsters between sites and seasons, it could not provide insight to the actual nutritional value of the different prey species consumed. To better understand the mechanisms behind why I observed differences in the population metrics between the sites, it would be crucial to incorporate nutritional content of the lobster and prey in future studies (Machovsky-Capuska et al. 2016, 2018). This study assessed the temporal variability in the effects of lobster resource use but focused on one study site. Future studies should assess how this translates to the rest of the Channel Islands and through the range of the spiny lobsters.

CONCLUSIONS

While the lobsters were less abundant and with lower reproductive output inside the MPA on Catalina compared to the site open to fishing, this marine reserve has been shown to be effective for increasing the size and density of a number of fish species that reside within the boundaries of the MPA (Froeschke et al. 2006, Selden et al. 2017). The methods presented in this study offer an approach for researchers and managers to use to help assess the effects of reserves on specific target species, and to understand why MPAs work for some species, but not others.

The methods employed in this work represent a novel approach in marine ecology as they integrated modern diet assessment techniques and use of geospatial technology to increase the efficiency of data collection. The use of stable isotope analysis with opensource software analysis allows for a non-lethal way of assessing the long-term diets of protected species that other researchers can replicate and expand on the data available. Using photographic transects and ArcGIS software allows us to collect more data in less time with comparable results compared to traditional field sampling methods. The application of drones represents the next step in the use of digital survey methods as they are cost effective and require few people to conduct survey an area. They are also able to capture large survey large areas in a short amount of time relative to traditional quadrat-based survey methods (Garza 2019). Many different projects – especially long-term monitoring projects of intertidal and subtidal habitat features – would benefit from incorporating drone and other photographic based geospatial techniques in future collections to reduce the cost and time of sampling. As demonstrated in this study, incorporating fine scale habitat analysis into the design of MPAs will likely increase the protection effect on the target species.

REFERENCES

- Alka K, Sallela K, Srivastava S, Jayaprakas V (2016) Food and feeding of the spiny lobster, *Panulirus homarus* (Linnaeus, 1758) along Vizhinjam coast of Kerala, India. Internship, Amity Univ Noida:1–26
- Arias A, Pressey RL, Jones RE, Álvarez-Romero JG, Cinner JE (2016) Optimizing enforcement and compliance in offshore marine protected areas: A case study from Cocos Island, Costa Rica. Oryx 50:18–26
- Babcock RC, Shears NT, Alcala AC, Barrett NS, Edgar GJ, Lafferty KD, McClanahan TR, Russ GR (2010) Decadal trends in marine reserves reveal differential rates of change in direct and indirect effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:18256–18261
- Barkai A, Davis CL, Tugwell S (1996) Prey selection by the South African Cape Rock lobster *Jasus lalandii*: ecological and physiological approaches. Bull Mar Sci 58:1–8
- Behrens MD, Lafferty KD (2004) Effects of marine reserves and urchin disease on southern Californian rocky reef communities. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 279:129–139
- Blamey LK, Branch GM (2009) Habitat diversity relative to wave action on rocky shores: implications for the selection of marine protected areas. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshw Ecosyst 19:645–657
- Briones-Fourzán P, álvarez-Filip L, Barradas-Ortíz C, Morillo-Velarde PS, Negrete-Soto
 F, Segura-García I, Sánchez-González A, Lozano-álvarez E (2019) Coral reef
 degradation differentially alters feeding ecology of co-occurring congeneric spiny
 lobsters. Front Mar Sci 5:1–15
- Broitman BR, Blanchette CA, Menge A, Lubchenco J, Krenz C, Foley M, Raimondi PT, Lohse D, Gaines SD (2008) Spatial and temporal patterns of invertebrate

recruitment along the west coast of the United States. Ecol Monogr 78:403-421

- California's Living Marine Resources: A Status Report (2001) Calif Dep Fish Game Resour Agency
- Chávez-Hidalgo A, Chávez EA (2016) The California lobster fishery and climate in the kelp bed ecosystem. Rev Biol Mar Oceanogr 51:629–641
- Connolly SR, Menge BA, Roughgarden J (2001) A latitudinal gradient in recruitment of intertidal invertebrates in the northeast Pacific Ocean. Ecology 82:1799–1813
- Contolini GM, Reid K, Palkovacs EP (2020) Climate shapes population variation in dogwhelk predation on foundational mussels. Oecologia 192:553–564
- Croll D, Marinovic B, Benson S, Chavez F, Black N, Ternullo R, Tershy B (2005) From wind to whales: trophic links in a coastal upwelling system. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 289:117–130
- Dayton PK, Tegner MJ, Edwards PB, Riser KL (1998) Sliding baselines, ghosts, and reduced expectations in kelp forest communities. America (NY) 8:309–322
- Delgadillo-Hinojosa F, Félix-Bermúdez A, Torres-Delgado E V., Durazo R, Camacho-Ibar V, Mejía A, Ruiz MC, Linacre L (2020) Impacts of the 2014–2015 warm-water anomalies on nutrients, chlorophyll-a and hydrographic conditions in the coastal zone of northern Baja California. J Geophys Res Ocean 125:1–20
- Donovan TM, Thompson FR, Faaborg J, Probst JR (1995) Reproductive success of migratory birds in habitat sources and sinks. Conserv Biol 9:1380–1395
- Duffy JM (1973) The status of the California spiny lobster resource. Calif Dep Fish Game Mar Resour Tech Rep 10

Dugan JE, Hubbard DM, McCrary MD, Pierson MO (2003) The response of macrofauna

communities and shorebirds to macrophyte wrack subsidies on exposed sandy beaches of southern California. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 58:25–40

- Frimodig A, Buck T (2017) State of the California south coast supplemental report: California spiny lobster.
- Froeschke JT, Allen LG, Pondella DJ (2006) The fish assemblages inside and outside of a temperate marine reserve in southern California. Bull South Calif Acad Sci 105:128–142
- Fry B (2006) Stable Isotope Ecology, 1st edn. Springer-Verlag New York
- Garza C (2019) Landscape ecology in the rocky intertidal: Opportunities for advancing discovery and innovation in intertidal research. Curr Landsc Ecol Reports 4:83–90
- Garza C, Robles C (2010) Effects of brackish water incursions and diel phasing of tides on vertical excursions of the keystone predator *Pisaster ochraceus*. Mar Biol 157:673–682
- Guest MA, Frusher SD, Nichols PD, Johnson CR, Wheatley KE (2009) Trophic effects of fishing southern rock lobster *Jasus edwardsii* shown by combined fatty acid and stable isotope analyses. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 388:169–184
- Guidetti P (2006) Marine Reserves Reestablish Lost Predatory Interactions And Cause Community Changes In Rocky Reefs. Ecol Appl 16:963–976
- Haley CN, Blamey LK, Atkinson LJ, Branch GM (2011) Dietary change of the rock lobster *Jasus lalandii* after an "invasive" geographic shift: Effects of size, density and food availability. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 93:160–170
- Hall JM, Buckelew A, Lovern M, Secor SM, Warner DA (2018) Seasonal shifts in reproduction depend on prey availability for an income breeder. Physiol Biochem

Zool 91:1129–1147

- Hamilton SL, Caselle JE, Lantz CA, Egloff TL, Kondo E, Newsome SD, Loke-Smith K,
 Pondella DJ, Young KA, Lowe CG (2011) Extensive geographic and ontogenetic
 variation characterizes the trophic ecology of a temperate reef fish on southern
 California (USA) rocky reefs. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 429:227–244
- Hilderbrand G V., Hanley TA, Robbins CT, Schwartz CC (1999) Role of brown bears (*Ursus arctos*) in the flow of marine nitrogen into a terrestrial ecosystem. Oecologia 121:546–550
- Hull WW (2020) Changes in prey mortality: The effects of multiple predators and temperature on California mussels. Humboldt State Univ Masters Thesis
- Iacchei M, Robinson P, Miller KA (2005) Direct impacts of commercial and recreational fishing on spiny lobster, *Panulirus interruptus*, populations at Santa Catalina Island, California, United States. New Zeal J Mar Freshw Res 39:1201–1214
- Jackson AL, Inger R, Parnell AC, Bearhop S (2011) Comparing isotopic niche widths among and within communities: SIBER - Stable Isotope Bayesian Ellipses in R. J Anim Ecol 80:595–602
- Johnston D, Melville-Smith R, Hendriks B (2007) Survival and growth of western rock lobster *Panulirus cygnus* (George) fed formulated diets with and without fresh mussel supplement. Aquaculture 273:108–117
- Jones AW, Post DM (2016) Does intraspecific competition promote variation? A test via synthesis. Ecol Evol 6:1646–1655
- Jones PL, Shulman MJ (2008) Subtidal-intertidal trophic links: American lobsters [*Homarus americanus* (Milne-Edwards)] forage in the intertidal zone on nocturnal

high tides. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 361:98–103

- Kay MC, Lenihan HS, Guenther CM, Wilson JR, Miller CJ, Shrout SW (2012) Collaborative assessment of California spiny lobster population and fishery responses to a marine reserve network. Ecol Appl 22:322–335
- Kay MC, Lenihan HS, Kotchen MJ, Miller CJ (2012) Effects of marine reserves on California spiny lobster are robust and modified by fine-scale habitat features and distance from reserve borders. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 451:137–150
- Kelly S, MacDiarmid AB (2003) Movement patterns of mature spiny lobsters, *Jasus edwardsii*, from a marine reserve. New Zeal J Mar Freshw Res 37:149–158
- Koch U, Martin-Creuzburg D, Grossart HP, Straile D (2011) Single dietary amino acids control resting egg production and affect population growth of a key freshwater herbivore. Oecologia 167:981–989
- Lafferty KD (2004) Fishing for lobsters indirectly increases epidemics in sea urchins. Ecol Appl 14:1566–1573
- Layman CA, Araujo MS, Boucek R, Hammerschlag-Peyer CM, Harrison E, Jud ZR,
 Matich P, Rosenblatt AE, Vaudo JJ, Yeager LA, Post DM, Bearhop S (2012)
 Applying stable isotopes to examine food-web structure: An overview of analytical tools. Biol Rev 87:545–562
- Layman CA, Arrington DA, Montana CG, Post DM (2007) Can stable isotope ratios provide for community-wide measures of trophic structure? Ecology 88:42–48
- Lenihan HS, Gallagher JP, Peters JR, Stier AC, Hofmeister JKK, Reed DC (2021) Evidence that spillover from Marine Protected Areas benefits the spiny lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) fishery in southern California. Sci Rep 11:1–9

- Lester SE, Halpern BS, Grorud-Colvert K, Lubchenco J, Ruttenberg BI, Gaines SD, Airamé S, Warner RR (2009) Biological effects within no-take marine reserves: A global synthesis. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 384:33–46
- Liu QX, Herman PMJ, Mooij WM, Huisman J, Scheffer M, Olff H, Koppel J Van De (2014) Pattern formation at multiple spatial scales drives the resilience of mussel bed ecosystems. Nat Commun 5:1–7
- Lor S, Malecki RA (2018) Breeding Ecology and Nesting Habitat Associations of Five Marsh Bird Species in Western New York. The International Journal of Waterbird Biology 29:4. 29:427–436
- MacArthur LD, Hyndes GA, Babcock RC, Vanderklift MA (2008) Nocturnally active western rock lobsters *Panulirus cygnus* forage close to shallow coastal reefs. Aquat Biol 4:201–210
- Machovsky-Capuska GE, Miller MGR, Silva FRO, Amiot C, Stockin KA, Senior AM, Schuckard R, Melville D, Raubenheimer D (2018) The nutritional nexus: Linking niche, habitat variability and prey composition in a generalist marine predator. J Anim Ecol 87:1286–1298
- Machovsky-Capuska GE, Priddel D, Leong PHW, Jones P, Carlile N, Shannon L, Portelli D, McEwan A, Chaves A V., Raubenheimer D (2016) Coupling bio-logging with nutritional geometry to reveal novel insights into the foraging behaviour of a plunge-diving marine predator. New Zeal J Mar Freshw Res 50:418–432
- Mai TT, Hovel KA (2007) Influence of local-scale and landscape-scale habitat characteristics on California spiny lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) abundance and survival. Mar Freshw Res 58:419–428

- McCauley DJ, Desalles PA, Young HS, Dunbar RB, Dirzo R, Mills MM, Micheli F (2012) From wing to wing: The persistence of long ecological interaction chains in less-disturbed ecosystems. Sci Rep 2
- McCormick M (2016) Variable spiny lobster foraging across a variable intertidal landscape. SNS Master's Theses
- Miller LP, Dowd WW (2019) Repeatable patterns of small-scale spatial variation in intertidal mussel beds and their implications for responses to climate change. Comp Biochem Physiol -Part A Mol Integr Physiol 236:110516
- Mills M, Pressey RL, Weeks R, Foale S, Ban NC (2010) A mismatch of scales: Challenges in planning for implementation of marine protected areas in the Coral Triangle. Conserv Lett 3:291–303
- Newsome SD, Martinez del Rio C, Bearhop S, Phillips DL (2007) A niche for isotopic ecology. Front Ecol Environ 5:429–436
- Norris DR, Marra PP, Kyser TK, Sherry TW, Ratcliffe LM (2004) Tropical winter habitat limits reproductive success on the temperate breeding grounds in a migratory bird. Proc R Soc London Biol Sci 271:59–64
- Orr M, Zimmer M, Jelinski DE, Mews M (2005) Wrack deposition on different beach types: Spatial and temporal variation in the pattern of subsidy. Ecology 86:1496– 1507
- Palumbi SR (2004) Marine reserves and ocean neighborhoods: the spatial scale of marine populations and their management. Annu Rev Environ Resour 29:31–68
- Parnell PE, Dayton PK, Lennert-Cody CE, Rasmussen LL, Leichter JJ (2006) Marine Reserve Design: Optimal size, habitats, species affinities, diversity, and ocean

microclimate. Ecol Appl 16:945-962

- Perry FA, Atkinson A, Sailley SF, Tarling GA, Hill SL, Lucas CH, Mayor DJ (2019)Habitat partitioning in Antarctic krill: Spawning hotspots and nursery areas (E V. Thuesen, Ed.). PLoS One 14:e0219325
- Peterson B, Fry B (1987) Stable isotopes in ecosystem studies. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 18:293–320
- Phillips DL (2012) Converting isotope values to diet composition: the use of mixing models. J Mammal 93:342–352
- Polis GA, Anderson WB, Holt RD (1997) Toward an integration of landscape and food web ecology: The dynamics of spatially subsidized food webs. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 28:289–316
- Polis GA, Hurd SD (1996) Linking marine and terrestrial food webs: allochthonous input from the ocean supports high secondary productivity on small islands and coastal land communities. Am Nat 147:396–423
- Post DM (2002) Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methos, and assumptions. Ecology 83:703–718
- Post DM, Layman C a., Arrington DA, Takimoto G, Quattrochi J, Montaña CG (2007) Getting to the fat of the matter: Models, methods and assumptions for dealing with lipids in stable isotope analyses. Oecologia 152:179–189
- Prindiville Gaines E, Ryan MR (1988) Piping plover habitat use and reproductive success in North Dakota. 52:266–273
- Reimchen TE (2000) Some ecological and evolutionary aspects of bear-salmon interactions in coastal British Columbia. Can J Zool 78:448–457

- Reynolds SJ, Schoech SJ, Bowman R (2003) Nutritional quality of prebreeding diet influences breeding performance of the Florida scrub-jay. Oecologia 134:308–316
- Roberts CM, Andelman S, Branch G, Bustamante RH, Castilla C, Dugan J, Halpern BS, Lafferty KD, Leslie H, Mcardle D, Possingham HP, Ruckelshaus M, Warner RR,
 Roberts M, Lubchenco J (2011) Ecological criteria for evaluating candidate sites for marine reserves. 13:199–214
- Robles CD (1987) Predator foraging characteristics and prey population structure on a sheltered shore. Ecology 68:1502–1514
- Robles CD (1997) Changing recruitment in constant species assemblages: implications for predation theory in intertidal communities. Ecology 78:1400–1414
- Robles CD, Alvarado MA, Desharnais RA (2001) The shifting balance of littoral predator-prey interaction in regimes of hydrodynamic stress. Oecologia 128:142–152
- Robles CD, Desharnais RA, Garza C, Donahue MJ, Martinez CA (2009) Complex equilibria in the maintenance of boundaries: experiments with mussel beds. Ecology 90:985–995
- Robles CD, Garza C, Desharnais RA, Donahue MJ (2010) Landscape patterns in boundary intensity: a case study of mussel beds. Landsc Ecol 25:745–759
- Robles CD, Robb J (1993) Varied carnivore effects and the prevalence of intertidal algal turfs. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 166:65–91
- Robles C, Sweetnam D, Eminike J (1990) Lobster predation on mussels: shore-level differences in prey vulnerability and predator preference. Ecology 71:1564–1577

Selden RL, Gaines SD, Hamilton SL, Warner RR (2017) Protection of large predators in

a marine reserve alters size-dependent prey mortality. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 284:20161936

Selman W, Lindeman P V. (2018) Spatial, seasonal, and sexual variation in the diet of *Graptemys flavimaculata*, a threatened turtle of the Pascagoula river system, Mississippi, USA. Copeia 106:247–254

Shears NT, Babcock RC (2003) Continuing trophic cascade effects after 25 years of notake marine reserve protection. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 246:1–16

- Smith JR, Fong P, Ambrose RF (2006) Long-term change in mussel (Mytilus californianus Conrad) populations along the wave-exposed coast of southern California. Mar Biol 149:537–545
- Stewart NL, Konar B (2012) Kelp Forests versus urchin barrens: alternate stable states and their effect on sea otter prey quality in the Aleutian Islands. J Mar Biol 2012:1– 12
- Stock BC, Jackson AL, Ward EJ, Parnell AC, Phillips DL, Semmens BX (2018) Analyzing mixing systems using a new generation of Bayesian tracer mixing models. PeerJ 2018:1–27
- Suring E, Wing SR (2009) Isotopic turnover rate and fractionation in multiple tissues of red rock lobster (*Jasus edwardsii*) and blue cod (*Parapercis colias*): Consequences for ecological studies. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 370:56–63
- Tegner M (2000) Ecosystem effects of fishing in kelp forest communities. ICES J Mar Sci 57:579–589
- Travis JMJ (2003) Climate change and habitat destruction: A deadly anthropogenic cocktail. Proc R Soc B Biol Sci 270:467–473

- Williams JG (2006) Central valley salmon: a perspective on chinook and steelhead in the central valley of California. San Fr Estuary Watershed Sci 4
- Windell SC (2015) Spiny lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) use of the intertidal zone at aSanta Catalina Island MPA in southern California. California State University,Monterey Bay
- Winget RR (1968) Trophic relationships and metabolic energy budget of the California spiny lobster, *Panulirus interruptus* (Randall). San Diego State College
- Wipfli MS, Hudson JP, Caouette JP, Chaloner DT (2003) Marine subsidies in freshwater ecosystems: salmon carcasses increase the growth rates of stream-resident salmonids. Trans Am Fish Soc 132:371–381
- Withy-Allen KR, Hovel KA (2013) California spiny lobster (*Panulirus interruptus*) movement behaviour and habitat use: implications for the effectiveness of marine protected areas. Mar Freshw Res 64:359–371
- Xavier JC, Velez N, Trathan PN, Cherel Y, Broyer C De, Cánovas F, Seco J, Ratcliffe N, Tarling GA (2018) Seasonal prey switching in non-breeding gentoo penguins related to a wintertime environmental anomaly around South Georgia. Polar Biol 41:2323– 2335
- Yoder JB, Clancey E, Roches S Des, Eastman JM, Gentry L, Godsoe W, Hagey TJ, Jochimsen D, Oswald BP, Robertson J, Sarver BAJ, Schenk JJ, Spear SF, Harmon LJ (2010) Ecological opportunity and the origin of adaptive radiations. J Evol Biol 23:1581–1596
- Zaba KD, Rudnick DL (2016) The 2014-2015 warming anomaly in the Southern California Current System observed by underwater gliders. Geophys Res Lett

43:1241-1248

APPENDIX I. TABLES

Sour	ce df	SS	R2	F	Р
Site	1	0.476	0.420	12.086	0.001*
Site:Year	. 2	0.146	0.129	1.860	0.124
Error	<u>13</u>	0.512	0.451		
Total	16	1.134	1.000		

 Table 1. PERMANOVA of 2017-2019 benthic habitat comparison of Bird Rock and Big

 Fisherman Cove

Table 2. Two-way ANOVA of 2013 lobster density. Zone tested the Intertidal vs. the Subtidal, and Location tested Big Fisherman Cove vs. Bird Rock with lobster density as the response variable.

Source	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Zone	1	0.172	0.172	8.07	0.008*
Location	1	0.464	0.464	21.79	< 0.001*
Location x					
Zone	1	0.042	0.042	2.00	0.167
Error	<u>32</u>	0.681	0.021		
Total	35	1.36			

Table 3. Two-way ANOVA of 2019 lobster density. Zone tested the Intertidal vs. the Subtidal, and Location tested Big Fisherman Cove vs. Bird Rock with lobster density as the response variable.

Source	df	SS	MS	F	Р
Zone	1	0.496	0.496	11.81	0.003*
Location	1	0.586	0.586	13.96	0.001*
Location x					
Zone	1	0.046	0.046	1.09	0.308
Error	<u>20</u>	0.840	0.420		
Total	23	1.97			

Table 4. Community metrics described in Layman et al 2007 to compare the isotopic community at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. The ranges in the parentheses represent the 95% confidence interval calculated in SIBER. Nitrogen range (NR), carbon range (CR), total area (TA) and mean distance to centroid (CD) give an idea of the community structure, and mean nearest neighbor distance (MNND) and standard deviation of nearest neighbor distance (SDNND) reflect the relative position of species to each other within the niche space.

Layman Metrics	Bird Rock	Big Fisherman Cove		
NR	7.73 (7.61 - 8.64)	5.72 (5.55 - 6.55)		
CR	8.06 (7.75 - 8.67)	8.49 (7.76 - 9.43)		
ТА	27.53 (26.20 - 32.20)	22.01 (20.81 - 27.98)		
CD	3.63 (3.60 - 4.00)	3.1 (2.94 - 3.35)		
MNND	3.43 (3.19 - 3.78)	2.52 (2.16 - 2.95)		
SDNND	1.58 (1.46 - 2.23)	1.32 (1.38 - 2.03)		

Table 5. Lobster isotopic niche space results from SIBER analysis assessing: A. seasonal differences in lobster niche size at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove, and B. the annual variation in lobster isotopic niche size at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove.

A.				
			Lo	obster niche (‰ ²)
				95% Confidence
Site	Year	п	Mode	Interval
Dind Dool	Summer	88	0.922	0.746 - 1.211
DILU KOCK	Winter	23	0.502	0.329 - 0.761
Big Fisherman	Summer	50	1.005	0.748 - 1.342
Cove	Winter	10	0.587	0.290 - 1.197

В.				
			Lo	obster niche (‰²)
				95% Confidence
Site	Year	n	Mode	Interval
	2017	34	0.765	0.543 - 1.103
Bird Rock	2018	11	0.421	0.223 - 0.841
	2019	43	0.545	0.395 - 0.738
Dig Eichermen	2017	22	1.092	0.722 - 1.730
Dig Fisherinan	2018	16	1.144	0.695 - 1.962
COVE	2019	12	0.974	0.512 - 1.792

				95% Confidence Interval		
Lobster Sex	Prey	Mean	SD	Lower	Upper	
	Crab	3%	3%	0%	8%	
	Limpet	3%	3%	0%	10%	
Male	Mussel	4%	3%	1%	11%	
	Snail	48%	6%	39%	59%	
	Urchin	42%	9%	25%	54%	
	Crab	4%	2%	1%	8%	
	Limpet	3%	3%	0%	8%	
Female	Mussel	7%	4%	2%	13%	
	Snail	42%	5%	34%	51%	
	Urchin	45%	<u>8</u> %	31%	57%	

Table 6. Percent of prey contribution to the lobster diet as determined by MixSiar model for lobsters collected in the summer at A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove.

A.

Bird Rock

В.

Big Fisherman Cove

				95% Confidence Interval		
Lobster Sex	Prey	Mean	SD	Lower	Upper	
	Crab	1%	1%	0%	2%	
	Limpet	0%	0%	0%	1%	
Male	Mussel	1%	1%	0%	2%	
	Snail	3%	2%	1%	6%	
	Urchin	96%	2%	92%	99%	
	Crab	1%	1%	0%	2%	
	Limpet	0%	0%	0%	1%	
Female	Mussel	1%	1%	0%	2%	
	Snail	2%	1%	1%	5%	
	Urchin	96%	2%	92%	99%	

Table 7. Percent of prey contribution to the lobster diet as determined by MixSiar model for lobsters collected in the winter at A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove.

Bird Rock					
				95% Confidence Interval	
Lobster Sex	Prey	Mean	SD	Lower	Upper
Female	Snail	86%	4%	78%	92%
	Urchin	14%	4%	8%	22%
Male	Snail	77%	5%	69%	86%
	Urchin	23%	5%	15%	31%
B. <i>Big Fisher</i>	man Cove				
				95% Confidence Interval	
Lobster	_			_	
Sex	Prey	Mean	SD	Lower	Upper
Female	Snail	50%	18%	15%	74%
	Urchin	50%	18%	26%	86%
Male	Snail	37%	17%	9%	62%
	Urchin	63%	17%	39%	91%

A.

APPENDIX II. FIGURES



Figure 1. Study sites on Catalina Island, indicated in green on the inlayed map. The three transect locations are indicated in red (Big Fisherman's Cove) and blue (Bird Rock). The dotted red line represents the boundary of the Blue Cavern State Marine Conservation Area, where west of the line is protected, and east is unprotected.



Figure 2. A. Example flight path (in green) for one 20m2 transect on Bird Rock. Each pass extends the length of the transect, and each pass is approximately 0.5m lower in the intertidal than the previous pass. B. Drone flight path from the habitat anal



Figure 3. Bird rock photomosaic from 85 drone images after structure from motion (SFM) rendering in Pix4d.



Figure 4. Non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis of intertidal habitat cover at Bird Rock (Red) Big Fisherman Cove (Blue). B. Average intertidal benthic cover from 2017-2019 of Big Fisherman Cove (White) and Bird Rock (Gray). Error bars are ± 1 standard error.



Figure 5. Mean lobster density by Zone (Intertidal and Subtidal) and Location (Big Fisherman Cove) in A) 2013 and B) 2019. Error bars are ± 1 standard error.



Figure 6. Lobster demographic surveys 2013. A) Proportional comparison of sex between Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove. B) Proportional comparison of reproductive condition (presence or absence of eggs on females) between Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove.



Figure 7. Lobster demographic surveys 2019. A) Proportional comparison of sex between Big Fiserhman Cove and Bird Rock. B) Proportional comparison of reproductive condition (presence or absence of eggs on females) between Big Fisherman Cove and Bird Rock.



Figure 8. Community δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N bi-plot of A. Bird Rock and B. Big Fisherman Cove. Each point represents the mean δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N, with error bars that represent the standard deviation.



Figure 9. Community δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N with the individual lobsters bi-plot by season for Bird Rock: A. summer and C. winter, and Big Fisherman Cove: B. summer and D. winter. The red circles represent female lobsters, the blue triangles represent male lobsters, and the gray arrow represents the trophic discrimination factor adjustment of -0.8‰ for carbon and -3.3‰ for Nitrogen). The prey are represented by green circles for intertidal species, and purple circles for subtidal species. Error bars represent the standard deviation.



Figure 10. Total area (TA) of the convex hull – a measure of community niche space of the putative prey species for lobsters at Bird Rock and Big Fisherman Cove where the point represents their mode, and shaded boxes represent the 50%, 75%, and 95% credible intervals from dark to light grey.



Figure 11. Standard ellipse area – an estimation of dietary niche – of lobsters at Bird Rock (BR) and Big Fisherman Cove (FC) by A) season and B) year where the point represents their mode, and shaded boxes represent the 50%, 75%, and 95% credible intervals from dark to light grey.

54



Figure 12. δ^{13} C - δ^{15} N bi-plot of lobsters at Bird Rock (circles) and Big Fisherman Cove (triangles) during summer (black) and winter (red).



Figure 13. Diet estimates for the lobsters collected in the summer using MixSIAR Bayesian mixing models for Bird Rock A. Males and B. Females and Big Fisherman Cove C. Males and D. Females. The intertidal prey are: crabs - *P. crassipes* (red), mussles - *Mytilus sp.* (green), limpets - *Lottia sp.* (yellow); and subtidal prey are: snails – *M. undosa* (blue), and urchins – *C. coronatus* (purple).



Figure 14. Diet estimates for the lobsters collected in the winter using MixSIAR Bayesian mixing models for Bird Rock: A. Males and B. Females, and Big Fisherman Cove: C. Males and D. Females. The subtidal prey are represented as: snails – M. undosa (red), and urchins – C. coronatus (blue).